FILED 07-23-2024 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2023AP2136-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

DEREK J. JARVI,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM AN AMENDED ORDER GRANTING A NEW TRIAL ENTERED IN LAFAYETTE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DUANE M. JORGENSON, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 261-8118 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) burgundysl@doj.state.wi.us

ISSUES PRESENTED

A jury convicted Derek Jarvi of second-degree sexual assault of a person under the influence of an intoxicant, Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(cm). The charge was based on allegations by "Mia," a coworker, that Jarvi entered her tent during a camping trip and had sex with her while she was heavily intoxicated.

Jarvi filed a postconviction motion seeking a new trial on numerous grounds. The circuit court granted the motion.

The issues on appeal are as follows:

1. Whether it was error for the jury to hear testimony that Jarvi declined to talk to police during the investigation, where Jarvi was never in custody or given *Miranda* warnings, or for the prosecutor to comment in closing—after Jarvi had testified—that Jarvi first told his version of events at trial.

The postconviction court called those references to Jarvi's declining to talk to police before trial "a problem." This Court should hold that those references were all permissible.

2. Whether it was an erroneous exercise of discretion (and if so, whether it was harmless) for the court to strike Jarvi's testimony about words Mia allegedly said indicating consent, where consent was not an element of the crime.

The postconviction court appeared to hold that it wrongly struck some of the testimony and that the error was not harmless, though it did not explain which strikes were erroneous, why, or why those errors were not harmless.

This Court should hold that the circuit court's initial exercise of discretion in excluding the testimony was sound under the circumstances.

Case 2023AP002136 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-23-2024 Page 8 of 44

3. Whether the alleged errors were harmless and nonprejudicial.

The postconviction court was unsure whether the alleged errors satisfied the harmless error or prejudice standards, but it noted that the trial was "messy" and that Jarvi should have a "clean" trial. This Court should reverse and hold that any errors were harmless and nonprejudicial.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request publication. The issues are fact-specific, and a published decision by this Court is unnecessary. The parties' briefs should allow this Court to resolve the issues presented without oral argument, but the State welcomes it if this Court has questions.

INTRODUCTION

Like many sexual assault cases, this was a credibility contest between Jarvi and Mia. Here, the jury believed Mia's version of events, details of which were corroborated by testimony from a witness. After his conviction, Jarvi raised numerous claims of error in a postconviction motion. The circuit court reversed Jarvi's conviction after declaring its original trial "messy" and stating that Jarvi should have a "clean" new trial. In doing so, the court seemingly reversed some of its own discretionary trial decisions, though it did not clearly explain what errors it perceived, and it expressed uncertainty about whether any errors were ultimately or Ultimately. the harmful prejudicial. court postconviction counsel and the prosecutor that "we can do better" and that a new trial would allow the court and parties to "clean up the mistakes." (R. 153:9–10.)

Case 2023AP002136 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-23-2024 Page 9 of 44

No trial is error-free; this one was no exception. But granting a new trial to "clean up" mistakes that a postconviction court was unsure were even mistakes to begin with or were reasonably likely to have affected the verdict is not the proper standard for reversing a jury verdict and requiring a new trial. The bottom line is that the alleged "errors" here were not errors, they involved sound exercises of discretion, and they were not reasonably likely to have affected the verdict.

Accordingly, a new trial is unwarranted. This Court should reverse.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A jury convicted Jarvi of second-degree sexual assault (sexual intercourse with an intoxicated person), in violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(cm). (R. 89.) The conviction was based on allegations by Mia claiming that during a camping trip in September 2020, Jarvi had sex with her when she was too intoxicated to consent to it. (R. 2:2–5.)

A. Mia disclosed the assault about six weeks after it occurred. Jarvi was never arrested or detained by police.

Mia disclosed the assault to police in early November 2020. (R. 2:1.) Mia also had told her friend "Kate," who had organized the trip, immediately after the trip that Jarvi had sex with her while she "was not coherent and could not recall anything." (R. 2:1, 8.)

Police contacted Jarvi shortly after interviewing Mia and Kate. (R. 2:8.) Jarvi initially agreed to meet with the police. (R. 2:8–9.) Later, an attorney contacted police and told them that Jarvi did not want to meet with them. (R. 2:9.) Police asked counsel to contact them if Jarvi changed his mind and told Jarvi's counsel they would be referring the matter to the district attorney for charging. (R. 2:9.)

Shortly after, the State filed a complaint charging Jarvi with second-degree sexual assault of an intoxicated person. (R. 2.) That statute defines the crime as when a defendant:

(cm) Has . . . sexual intercourse with a person who is under the influence of an intoxicant to a degree which renders that person incapable of giving consent if the defendant has actual knowledge that the person is incapable of giving consent and the defendant has the purpose to have . . . sexual intercourse with the person while the person is incapable of giving consent.

Wis. Stat. § 940.225(2)(cm).

Before trial, Jarvi moved to admit an expert witness, Dr. Kim Fromme, who would testify about alcohol-induced blackouts, which "are amnesia for all or part of a drinking event during which time an individual remains fully conscious and capable of making voluntary decisions and executing complex actions," but the person does not remember parts or all of that blackout period. (R. 25:2.) The circuit court excluded Dr. Fromme's proposed expert testimony under Wis. Stat. § 907.02 as not relevant, not the product of applying sufficient facts to an accepted methodology, and an invasion of the province of the jury. (R. 98:91–95.)

B. At trial, Kate and Mia testified that Mia was so intoxicated the night of the assault that she needed assistance walking.

Kate and Mia were friends who worked together at Exact Sciences with Jarvi; the three of them were friendly with each other at work and occasionally got together outside of work. (R. 104:71–75.) Before the camping trip, Jarvi told Kate that he was interested in Mia, but Kate told him that Mia was "seeing someone." (R. 104:77.)

Kate organized an overnight camping trip to Yellowstone Lake State Park in September 2020, and both she and Mia were comfortable with Jarvi joining them. (R. 104:80–81, 178.) They arrived at their campsite in the

Case 2023AP002136 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-23-2024 Page 11 of 44

early afternoon, where they set up the tents and started drinking. (R. 104:81, 83.) Jarvi made tequila drinks and told Kate and Mia that he had ingested hallucinogenic mushrooms that morning. (R. 104:83.) They then hiked for about an hour and returned to the campsite, where they had two or three more drinks. (R. 104:85, 87.)

Early in the trip, Jarvi started introducing sex as a topic. (R. 104:85–87.) For example, he commented that he thought "it would be cool to be roofied," i.e., drugged and sexually assaulted. (R. 104:180.) At another point, when Mia left the campsite briefly, Jarvi proposed that either he could have sex with Mia or the three of them could all have sex together. (R. 104:85–86, 181.) When Mia returned, Kate told Mia about what Jarvi had said, and Mia said no to both and that she had a boyfriend. (R. 104:85–86, 181.)

The group then went to the lake where they swam and took photographs. (R. 104:88, 90.) At that point, Kate felt buzzed, and Mia was giggly and having fun, but Jarvi seemed to be acting like his normal self. (R. 104:90.) Kate and Mia stripped to their underwear to swim, and they allowed Jarvi to take photos with Kate's phone and to send himself some of the pictures. (R. 104:90–92.) Mia admitted at that point she was "getting pretty drunk." (R. 104:185.) She acknowledged that removing her clothes and swimming in her underwear was not something she would have normally done. (R. 104:185.)

The group returned to the campsite to make dinner. (R. 104:98–99.) Kate stopped drinking "maybe a few hours after dinner." (R. 104:100.) She noticed that Mia and Jarvi still had drinks in their hands into the evening. (R. 104:100.) Kate specifically remembered that Mia at that point had grown quiet and "less giggly." (R. 104:101.) Mia testified that she had had too much to drink by that point. (R. 104:191.)

Case 2023AP002136 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-23-2024 Page 12 of 44

Mia was also visibly impaired. Kate had to help Mia out of her chair and support her to prevent Mia from stumbling on a walk to the bathroom. (R. 104:108.) At another point in the evening, Mia and Jarvi had walked out to the road. Kate heard Mia yell Kate's nickname loudly and multiple times; at that point, Kate and Jarvi both had to help Mia walk back to the campsite. (R. 104:109–12.)

Kate testified that "[t]he topic came up somehow between who [Kate or Mia] is the better kisser." (R. 104:114.) Jarvi got up and kissed Mia. (R. 104:114.) Kate said that Mia "froze," raised her hands up, and "got really quiet." (R. 104:114.) Jarvi then kissed Kate. (R. 104:114.) Kate said that she was "very much in shock and uncomfortable . . . considering neither of [them] had asked" Jarvi to kiss them. (R. 104:159.) She then said, "in an uncomfortable, joking manner, . . . who is the better kisser," and Jarvi kissed them each again. (R. 104:114–15, 158–59.)

Mia testified that she could remember only bits and pieces from when they returned to the campsite from the lake. (R. 104:190–91.) She remembered Kate holding her up to walk to the bathroom, and that she (Mia) had fallen and scraped her knee. (R. 104:191.) She also threw up at some point, and Kate helped her. (R. 104:192.) She remembered the kissing contest and freezing up when Jarvi kissed her; she felt shocked and confused. (R. 104:193.)

Kate went to bed first; she had a hammock to sleep in. (R. 104:115.) Kate said that Jarvi helped her zip into her hammock and that Mia was still sitting by the fire. (R. 104:115.) At that point, Kate was tipsy, not drunk. (R. 104:115.) Of the three, Jarvi did not show visible signs of intoxication, and his behavior and demeanor "changed the least throughout the night." (R. 104:113, 166–67.)

Case 2023AP002136 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-23-2024 Page 13 of 44

Mia remembered seeing Kate go into her hammock. (R. 104:194.) The last thing Mia remembered that night was eating chips by the fire and feeling very drunk. (R. 104:194–95.)

The next morning, Mia woke up in her tent and felt cold. (R. 104:195, 97.) The flannel shirt she wore was open, she was wet between her legs, and she was on top of her sleeping bag. (R. 104:196.) Kate and Jarvi were up when she got out of her tent; at one point, Jarvi confirmed with Mia that they had had sex and asked if she was on birth control. (R. 104:198.)

The group packed the campsite and returned home. (R. 104:115–16.) Kate stopped the car on the way back for Mia to throw up. (R. 104:116, 199.) Later that day, Mia called Kate and told her that Jarvi had sex with her the night before. (R. 104:161.) Mia also talked to another friend, her mother, and her boyfriend about the assault. (R. 104:199.)

Mia talked to Jarvi shortly after the camping trip. (R. 104:201.) Jarvi told Mia that she was "into it" and that he performed oral sex on her in addition to intercourse. (R. 104:201–02.) Mia responded that she was drunk and that she had previously made clear to Jarvi that she was not interested in sex with him. (R. 104:201–03.) She also testified that she dislikes oral sex and never would have agreed to allow anyone to do that to her. (R. 104:203.)

Mia said that the encounter traumatized her. It caused her to become fearful, and it became a work issue because she did not want Jarvi near her. (R. 104:204–05.) Mia sought a therapist, went to a rape crisis center, and eventually contacted the police. (R. 104:205–07.)

C. Jarvi initially agreed to speak with police but later declined.

Detective Sergeant Jerrett Cook of the Lafayette County Sheriff's Office interviewed Kate and Mia separately in November 2020. (R. 99:5, 9.) He also reviewed text messages, photos, and videos from the camping trip. (R. 99:11–12.)

The prosecutor asked Cook whether he had "the chance to speak to" Jarvi as part of his investigation. (R. 99:11.) Cook said, "No," but then clarified:

I did speak to Mr. Jarvi on the cell phone to set up a time to meet with him; however, he called me back and said he couldn't make that meeting.

And then we spoke again about meeting, and then I received a call from . . . his attorney at that time, [who] said that [Jarvi] was retaining an attorney and didn't want to speak with me.

(R. 99:12.) Counsel did not object to that statement, and the State ended its questioning without following up. (R. 99:12.)

On cross-examination, counsel challenged Detective Cook's thoroughness, accuracy, and objectivity in conducting his investigation, emphasizing that it was important for the detective to gather "as much information as possible" and to "find consistency in statements." (R. 99:14.) Cook found it important to ensure that his reports are accurate, to record interviews, and to get as many specific details as possible. (R. 99:14–15.) Counsel also confirmed with Cook that "as law enforcement, you have a means of obtaining additional information . . . such as through a subpoena or search warrant." (R. 99:16–17.)

Counsel then highlighted differences between Kate and Mia's testimony and what was in Cook's reports. (R. 99:18–23, 26.) Counsel brought out that Cook did not record his interview with Mia due to malfunctioning recording equipment. (R. 99:24–25.) Cook agreed, when asked, that

Case 2023AP002136 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-23-2024 Page 15 of 44

after he interviewed Kate and Mia, he tried "to find other information that might corroborate" either of their statements. (R. 99:26–27.) Cook was aware that there was a human resources investigation related to the incident, but Cook did not attempt to obtain those records. (R. 99:27.)

Counsel followed up, noting that the HR records might have had statements "taken even closer in time to the alleged incident . . . from [Mia], from [Jarvi]." (R. 99:27.) Detective Cook responded that because HR is not trained in investigating or interviewing people, information from that file would not be useful to (and risked tainting) the investigation. (R. 99:27–28.) Counsel also elicited that Detective Cook did not look at the SANE exam, which occurred over a week after the alleged assault. (R. 99:29.)

On redirect examination, the State established that the lack of recording of Mia's interview was accidental and unexpected, that the SANE exam would not have contained helpful information, and that Mia provided Detective Cook some of her initial correspondence with HR. (R. 99:30–31.) Cook obtained no subpoenas or search warrants during his investigation, but Jarvi was aware of the "investigation at least through HR," and Cook used information from Mia's and Kate's phones. (R. 99:32–33.) Cook "did not get the opportunity to speak with . . . Jarvi or forensically dump his phone, which [was Cook's] normal practice; however, [Jarvi] was uncooperative as far as wanting to interview." (R. 99:33.)

D. Jarvi's testimony was that Mia showed no signs of impairment and that she led him to her tent and initiated intercourse.

Jarvi's testimony about how he met Mia and Kate and their friendly relationship up until the camping trip largely matched Mia's and Kate's descriptions. (R. 99:36, 38–40.) Jarvi admitted that he had "developed somewhat of a crush"

on Mia before the trip. (R. 99:47–48.) He knew Mia had a boyfriend but he thought it was an open relationship, and he stated that he "definitely felt chemistry between [Mia] and myself." (R. 99:46, 47.)

Jarvi also agreed with Kate's and Mia's testimony about how the camping trip started, though he included details of provocative behavior by Kate and Mia. For example, he claimed that on the hike, there was a lot of "horseplay," including piggyback rides, the girls "play" attacking him, or lightly pushing him. (R. 99:52.) Jarvi did not remember proposing a threesome, but when Kate and Mia testified about it, he assumed "that it was probably something to do with our humor that we had, which was of a sexual nature. I wouldn't put it past me to make a threesome joke on a camping trip with two females." (R. 99:56–57.) He also agreed that the three of them drank alcohol throughout the day, but he claimed that Mia's demeanor remained happy and "giggly," which was how she normally was around him. (R. 99:54, 73–74, 91.)

In Jarvi's view, Mia was more comfortable being physical with him when Kate was not present and gravitated toward him after the group went swimming in the lake. (R. 99:68–69.) After swimming, Mia suggested that she and Jarvi go for a walk, took his hand, and kissed him. (R. 99:68.) Mia made a lot of eye contact with him, giggled at his jokes, and touched his tattoos on his chest. (R. 99:69.) Mia generally had "a giggly demeanor" when she was around him, and just before the sexual encounter, Mia "seemed very happy. Full of energy, just, you know, giggly." (R. 99:73, 90–91.)

Jarvi then detailed his version of events, where Mia initiated the sexual encounter after Kate went to sleep in her hammock:

[Mia] stood up and took me by the hand. . . . She led me to her tent. . . . She let go of my hand and squatted down to unzip her tent flap and looked back at me and Case 2023AP002136 Brief of Appellant Filed 07-23-2024 Page 17 of 44

smiled and then got in her tent and held the flap for me, and I came in with her. . . . She laid down on her back, and I zipped the flap up and turned around and came over to her and started kissing her. . . . I start slowly unbuttoning her flannel shirt and down to start kissing to—down to her panties, which she helps to assist me by taking off—lifting her hips up and taking them off of her heels. I kiss down and begin to perform oral sex on her. . . . [Mia's] moaning, and it's pretty loud, and I'm kind of nervous that [Kate] might wake up, but I continue because she's obviously—the physical signs seem to indicate that she's enjoying it. . . . I had sat up and began to stimulate myself and was putting my fingers inside of her to stimulate her, at which point she took my penis and put it inside of her vagina.

(R. 99:73–75.) Jarvi also stated that Mia kissed him back when he kissed her, that he asked Mia, "Are we doing this?" after they started becoming intimate in the tent, and reiterated that she initiated the penis-to-vagina sex by putting his penis into her vagina. (R. 99:74–75, 85, 109.)

E. Jarvi was convicted and sentenced; the postconviction court granted a new trial.

The jury found Jarvi guilty. (R. 85; 99:170.) The court sentenced him to five years of initial confinement and five years of extended supervision. (R. 85:1.) Jarvi filed a lengthy postconviction motion seeking a new trial based on three sets of claimed errors. (R. 112:1–2.)

First, he claimed that the circuit court erroneously excluded: (1) Jarvi's testimony to the extent that he offered out-of-court statements that Kate and Mia made during the camping trip; and (2) Dr. Fromme's expert testimony. (R. 112:1.) He argued that those rulings violated his due process right to present a defense. (R. 112:1.)

Second, he claimed that the prosecutor committed misconduct by: (1) introducing evidence of and impermissibly commenting on Jarvi's right to pretrial silence; and (2) exploiting the exclusion of Dr. Fromme's testimony by making arguments regarding blackouts that Dr. Fromme could have rebutted. (R. 112:1.)

Third, he claimed that his trial counsel was ineffective by: (1) failing to advocate better for the admission of Mia's outof-court statements; (2) failing to better advocate for admission of Dr. Fromme's testimony; (3) failing to object to the admission of certain text messages on hearsay grounds; (4) failing to "object to evidence and arguments infringing on Jarvi's right to pre-trial silence"; and (5) failing "to object to the prosecutor's closing [remarks] improperly exploiting the exclusion of expert testimony on blackouts." (R. 112:2.)

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