Filed 11-29-2024

Page 1 of 48

FILED 11-29-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

Case No. 2023AP2136-CR

DEREK J. JARVI

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM ORDER GRANTING POSTCONVICTION MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL, ENTERED IN THE LAFAYETTE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DUANE JORGENSON, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

COLE DANIEL RUBY Attorney at Law State Bar #1064819

Martinez & Ruby, LLP 620 8th Ave Baraboo, WI 53913 (608) 355-2000 cole@martinezandruby.com

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The Court Erroneously Struck Jarvi's Testimony Regarding Mia's Remarks Demonstrating Both Her Consent And Ability To Consent To Sex, Violating Jarvi's Constitutional Right To Present Evidence
 - A. The court erroneously excluded Jarvi's testimony about Mia's remarks before, during and after sex
 - 1. The testimony was not inadmissible hearsay, as the State now concedes

The State repeatedly objected to Jarvi's testimony about Mia's statements as hearsay, and the circuit court struck the testimony as inadmissible hearsay (R99:58-59,62,68,70,74-76). Every single time, the court was wrong.

Jarvi's postconviction motion explained that the statements were admissible over hearsay objections for various reasons (*see* R112:10-14). Some of the proposed testimony was not an "assertion." Wis. Stat. sec. 908.01(1). Some was admissible not for the truth of the matter asserted, but to show the effect on Jarvi, the listener. Wis. Stat. sec. 908.01(3). The statements admitted for their truth were admissible under various exceptions, including present sense impressions, excited utterances, and the declarant's then-existing state of mind. Wis. Stat. secs. 908.03(1), 908.03(2), and 908.03(3).

The motion cited *State v. Prineas*, 2012 WI App 2, 338 Wis.2d 362, 809 N.W.2d 68, where the court of appeals reversed a defendant's sexual assault convictions because the circuit court's exclusion on hearsay grounds of the defendant repeating anything the alleged victim stated before, during, or after sex was erroneous and violated the defendant's constitutional right to present evidence. *Prineas* stands for the fairly obvious proposition that in a sexual assault case where consent is at issue, the jury must consider words and actions

when determining whether consent exists, and the defendant's claims of what the alleged victim said are clearly admissible and not hearsay.

Without going through the hearsay analysis, the circuit court acknowledged error (R153:4) ("I tend to think it was error on my part").

The State no longer argues that any of the excluded statements were inadmissible hearsay, conceding that several likely qualify as present-sense impressions or excited utterances (Appellant's Br. 34). The State has therefore abandoned any claim that the statements were properly excluded as hearsay.

Based upon this concession, Jarvi will not address the specific hearsay exceptions for individual statements, beyond incorporating his postconviction arguments by reference.

2. The statements are relevant to both Jarvi's theory of defense and the elements of the offense

For the first time on appeal, the State alleges a new reason why it believes the statements were properly excluded: they were not relevant. This argument is legally indefensible to the point of absurdity.

Specifically, the State asserts that evidence regarding consent is not a consequential fact to a prosecution for sexual assault of an intoxicated person, and is "not relevant or admissible because Mia could not freely consent based on her condition" (Appellant's Br: 34) (emphasis added). The emphasized portion highlights the fallacy of the State's premise: it assumes multiple facts that the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt at trial. The State needed to prove Mia's intoxicated condition. The State needed to

prove that intoxicated condition rendered her incapable of consenting. Those are facts of consequence. Any evidence challenging those facts is relevant by definition. To conclude otherwise is akin to finding only the State's evidence is admissible, and that Jarvi had no right to defend himself.

Relevance is most easily assessed by looking at the elements. For a violation of sec. sec. 940.225(2)(cm), element #3 required the State to prove Mia was "under the influence of an intoxicant to a degree which rendered her incapable of giving consent." According to the jury instructions, this requires that Mia "was incapable of giving freely given agreement to engage in sexual intercourse." (R69:9). Logically, if Mia was capable of freely giving consent, and if she gave consent in fact, this provides a defense to the charge.

The other contested elements went to Jarvi's knowledge and purpose. Element #4 required the State to prove that Jarvi "had actual knowledge that [Mia] was incapable of giving consent," and Element #5 required proof that Jarvi "had the purpose to have sexual intercourse while [Mia] was incapable of giving consent." (R69:9-10). Accordingly, if Jarvi believed Mia was capable of giving consent to sex, and believed that she gave consent in fact, he would not be guilty. Likewise, if his purpose was not to have sex with Mia when she was incapable of giving consent, he would not be guilty.

Despite acknowledging the need to prove these elements, the State baldly asserts "none of the excluded (or proposed) statements here bore on Mia's capacity to consent or Jarvi's knowledge of that capacity." (Appellant's Br: 35). The State splits the statements into three categories: (1) excluded statements attributable to Kate, (2) excluded statements attributable to Mia, and (3) additional statements by Mia offered postconviction (Appellant's Br: 35-36). While the statements attributable to Kate are still relevant to explain events and why Jarvi took certain actions, Jarvi will focus on

Case 2023AP002136 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-29-2024 Page 22 of 48

Mia's statements because those are more directly relevant to the elements of the offense.

Mia's statements before or after she and Jarvi kissed while walking were relevant to Jarvi's state of mind. Kate and Mia testified that Mia had no sexual interest in Jarvi and didn't want to kiss him (R104:181,193-94), supporting the inference that she wouldn't consensually have sex with him. Statements supporting the fact that Mia consensually kissed Jarvi earlier that evening are probative for whether she actually did have romantic interest in Jarvi, as well as his later belief that she consented to sexual intercourse (*see* R99:68-69,85).

Mia's statements at the time Kate went to bed were relevant to elements 3, 4, and 5. When Kate asked Mia multiple times to come to bed, Mia gave successive responses—"I'm not tired, you go ahead," and then "I'm fine, you go ahead, I want to stay up by the fire" (R130:63-64). Those statements directly contradict the State's theory that Mia was intoxicated to a degree where she was incapable of making voluntary choices. Jarvi's offer of proof explained how those statements affected his state of mind, because he believed Mia was "able to articulate her needs and wants," and that her refusal to go to bed suggested she was drowsy or intoxicated (R130:64). Thus these statements were relevant to whether Jarvi knew Mia was intoxicated to a degree rendering her incapable of giving consent, and logically also supported his claim that he did not have the purpose of sex with someone incapable of giving consent.

The State makes *no attempt whatsoever* to analyze the relevance of those specific statements. Instead, it offers a general assertion that Mia's statements "just before, during, and after the intercourse say little about whether she had capacity to consent, had no bearing on Jarvi's knowledge of her capacity, and had no bearing on his purpose." (Appellant's Br: 36). This analysis is conclusory and plainly wrong.

The State does directly address Mia's statements during and after intercourse, but its analysis is again conclusory, asserting the statements "do not bear on her capacity at the time of the intercourse or Jarvi's knowledge of that capacity" (Appellant's Br: 35). Combining the statements excluded from trial and Jarvi's offer of proof, that includes the following:

- Mia said, "Come on, let's go" to Jarvi when she led him to her tent;
- When they started kissing in the tent, Jarvi asked, "Are we doing this," and Mia answered, "Yeah;"
- When Jarvi was initially unable to become erect, Mia asked, "What's wrong," and began to manually stimulate his penis;
- During sex. Mia said, "Yeah," "Yes, oh God," and "God yes;" and
- Both Jarvi and Mia said "Wow" after sex.

(R99:74-76; R130:65-66).

The claim that Mia's statements have no bearing on either her capacity or Jarvi's knowledge of her capacity is absurd. This is clearly demonstrated by flipping the situation around; assume, instead, that Mia said nothing during any of these moments. Lack of verbal response would strengthen the inference that Mia lacked awareness of what was happening, and that she was incapable of consenting. If Mia made no affirmative declarations during sex, that would strengthen the inference that she was not a willing participant. And the absence of such statements would increase the inference that Jarvi had both the knowledge that Mia was incapable of consenting, and the purpose of having sex while she was

incapable. Such evidence would be undoubtedly relevant to elements 3-5.

If *negative* evidence of such verbal statements is relevant, *positive* evidence of such statements is also clearly relevant. Positive verbalizations from Mia at each step during the process would reinforce Jarvi's knowledge and belief that she was capable of consenting, and gave consent in fact. Jarvi testified to precisely this impact on his state of mind at the postconviction hearing (R130:64-67). And if Mia *did* verbally express consent, it logically supports an inference that she *was capable* of giving consent.

Simply put, while verbalized consent is not dispositive evidence of either consent or capacity to give consent, it is obviously relevant and admissible evidence of both.

The State next argues that nothing about the court's ruling prevented Jarvi from testifying to his perceptions of Mia, the physical actions that led to sex, her demeanor, and the manner of her speaking (Appellant's Br: 36). To be clear, that is a harmless error argument, not an argument that the proffered testimony was legally inadmissible. Further, that analysis ignores the impact of stripping those physical descriptions of their context by removing the corresponding verbal statements, as well as the chilling effect of the court's repeatedly erroneous rulings and instructions to the jury to disregard Jarvi's testimony. As discussed *infra*, a virtually identical argument was rejected in *Prineas*, and must be rejected here for the same reasons.

3. The court's exclusion violated Jarvi's constitutional rights

Because the proffered evidence was highly probative and critical to Jarvi's defense, its exclusion violated not only state rules of evidence, but also his constitutional rights to due process and to present a defense. See, e.g., Pennsylvania v.

Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39, 40 (1987); *Crane v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 683, 690 (1986). Exclusion of defense evidence "abridge[s] an accused's right to present a defense" where the restriction is "`arbitrary' or `disproportionate to the purposes' [it is] designed to serve," and the evidence "implicate[s] a sufficiently weighty interest of the accused." *Scheffer*, 523 U.S. at 308-09.

This was core defense evidence, as Attorney Anderson testified at the postconviction hearing (R130:9,55). There can be no reasonable dispute that evidence of Mia's remarks to Jarvi was relevant to the central issues in the case—witness credibility, whether Mia in fact consented to sexual intercourse, whether she was incapable of giving consent, whether Jarvi knew she was incapable of giving consent, and whether he had the purpose of sex with someone incapable of giving consent—each of which was critical to Jarvi's defense. Accordingly, the evidence implicated a "sufficiently weighty interest of the accused."

Nor can there be any reasonable argument that evidence of Mia's statements was inadmissible under Wisconsin law, or that the State has *any* legitimate interest in excluding evidence of Jarvi's innocence, let alone a compelling one. Since the statements were not inadmissible hearsay, the court's exclusion of the testimony served no purpose, and was arbitrary and disproportionate. The erroneous exclusion denied Jarvi's rights to due process and to present a defense.

B. The error was not harmless

When a court determines evidence was erroneously excluded, the court must then determine whether the error was harmless. *See Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967); *State v. Mayo*, 2007 WI 78, ¶47, 301 Wis.2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115. Before a constitutional error can be held harmless, the beneficiary of the error—here, the State—must prove "beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." *Id*.

The State argues that since Jarvi was able to testify to Mia's actions and demeanor, his testimony about what Mia said "was cumulative to and less probative than the actions Jarvi described" (Appellant's Br. 38-40).

Prineas demonstrates the fallacy of that argument. There the victim, KAC, accused Prineas of numerous acts of sexual assault at a fraternity house, claiming she repeatedly told him "no" but that he forced her to have intercourse. **Id.**, 2012 WI App 2, ¶¶3-5. When Prineas attempted to testify to statements made by KAC to support his consent defense, the court sustained the prosecutor's hearsay objections, excluding Prineas's testimony that KAC said "okay" when he said he had a condom; her statement that sex "wasn't working" standing up and asking if he wanted to do it on the floor; his opinion that they "consensually" went to the floor; and KAC's request that he help clean her off after sex. **Id.**, ¶¶6-8.

Prineas also referenced additional statements he wanted to testify about, but believed he couldn't "without going back into hearsay." *Id.*, ¶8. Postconviction, the defense made an offer of proof that Prineas also would have testified that (1) upon entering the room, KAC asked Prineas to make sure the door was locked; (2) when KAC was straddling Prineas on the floor, he asked KAC if she wanted to switch positions and she responded "yes"; and (3) after the encounter, KAC asked Prineas not to tell anyone. *Id.*, ¶12. The court of appeals concluded that testimony about KAC's remarks supporting consent to sex were not hearsay, and were instead admissible to show state of mind. *Id.*, ¶¶18-19.

Nonetheless, the State argued KAC's remarks were "superfluous and cumulative" because Prineas was able to characterize her participation as voluntary, arguing "[j]urors did not need to hear Prineas paraphrase KAC's alleged words to know that Prineas was claiming the floor activity was

consensual." *Id.*, ¶¶25-26. The court of appeals rejected this, noting that KAC's alleged requests as to locking the door, wearing protection, and changing sexual positions directly affected the key issue of consent, because they "could all contribute to a finding that there was an affirmative indication of willingness." *Id.*, ¶26.

Likewise, Mia's excluded statements before, during, and after sex could contribute to a finding that Mia was a fully cognizant, willing participant, and that Jarvi believed she was capable of giving consent.

The State argues that it had a comparatively strong case, citing the circuit court's claim that the jury believed Mia over Jarvi (Appellant's Br. 40; R153:4). But that is precisely the problem—the jury *didn't hear* Jarvi's full testimony. Jarvi was prevented from testifying to the things Mia said before, during and after sex, why those statements supported his belief that she was capable and did in fact give consent for sex. *Prineas* highlighted the same problem when it observed that the "jury's finding as to consent turned on the credibility of Prineas and KAC," and the statements by KAC "if deemed credible, would bear directly on the issue of consent." *Id.*, ¶27.

Moreover, the State completely ignores the damaging impact of the judge instructing the jury to disregard Jarvi's testimony, no less than three times, including twice regarding Mia's statements *during* sex (R99:58-59,74-76). Both Jarvi and his attorney testified to the chilling effect these instructions had on presenting Jarvi's testimony (R130:19-20,60-61). Facing similar instructions by the judge in *Prineas*, the court of appeals concluded, "[w]e think it likely that the jury deemed the trial court's instruction to disregard Prineas' testimony as to KAC's alleged remarks as tantamount to an instruction to disregard Prineas' recollection of the details concerning KAC's consent," which added to the prejudice. *Id.*, ¶29.

This should have been a he-said she-said credibility contest. Instead, the court's erroneous rulings muzzled Jarvi, preventing him from telling his full story, and preventing the jury from fully evaluating his credibility. The State cannot possibly prove the error did not contribute to the outcome. *Mayo, id.*, ¶47. The circuit court correctly granted a new trial.

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